May 17, 2023
The President
The White House
Washington, D.C. 20500

RE: OSC File No. HA-22-000173

Dear Mr. President:

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 1215(b), | am forwarding to you a U.S. Office of Special Counsel
(OSC) report detailing Hatch Act violations by U.S. Attorney Rachael Rollins that are among the
most egregious transgressions of the Act that OSC has ever investigated. OSC has concluded
that Ms. Rollins violated the Hatch Act by (1) leaking non-public U.S. Department of Justice
(DQJ) information so that news outlets would report that a political candidate she opposed was
facing a potential DOJ investigation, and (2) attending a Democratic National Committee
fundraiser while on duty, in her official capacity, and using a government-owned vehicle.

Ms. Rollins’s conduct in leaking non-public DOJ information constitutes an extraordinary
abuse of her authority and threatens to erode public confidence in the integrity of federal law
enforcement actions. OSC now refers the violations, together with Ms. Rollins’s response, to
you for appropriate action.

Yesterday, OSC informed Ms. Rollins that this report would be released publicly today.
Shortly thereafter, it was reported that Ms. Rollins intends to resign by the end of this week.
Even if Ms. Rollins resigns, which would foreclose the possibility of any disciplinary action, |
hope that this report provides an opportunity for you to emphasize to all federal employees the
importance of serving the public in a professional and nonpartisan manner. The American
people deserve nothing less.

Respectfully,

o D M-

Henry J. Kerner
Special Counsel

Enclosures
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC) has found that U.S. Attorney for the District of
Massachusetts, Rachael Rollins, violated the Hatch Act and, in doing so, committed an
extraordinary abuse of her power as U.S. Attorney. Chronologically, her first violation arose in
July 2022 when, in disregard of legal advice from her own agency, and in violation of the Hatch
Act, she attended a political party fundraiser in her official capacity. Her second violation
occurred throughout August and September 2022, when she repeatedly attempted to sabotage
the campaign of a political candidate by leaking non-public U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)
information to the media to plant a story that he was facing a DOJ investigation. This latter
violation, in particular, is one of the most egregious Hatch Act violations that OSC has
investigated.!

Hatch Act Prohibition at Issue

The Hatch Act prohibits covered employees from using their official authority or
influence to interfere with or affect the result of an election by, for example, using their official
title or position while participating in political activity.> “Political activity” is activity directed
toward the success or failure of a political party, partisan political group, or candidate for
partisan political office and includes attending a political event.® Hatch Act case law similarly
holds that an employee violates this prohibition by “act[ing] in [an] official capacity to further a
partisan political campaign.”* Thus, a covered employee may not, among other things, attend a
political event in her official capacity or use her official position to support or oppose a
candidate for partisan political office. The Hatch Act also prohibits employees from engaging in
political activity while on duty or while using a government owned vehicle.’

Summary of Investigative Findings — Leaking Non-public Information to Affect an Election

0SC’s investigation established that Ms. Rollins violated the Hatch Act by using her

official authority to interfere with or affect the results of the 2022 election for District Attorney
(DA) of Suffolk County, Massachusetts, when she leaked information about her office’s recusal
from a potential DOJ investigation of the candidate she opposed, incumbent DA Kevin Hayden.
Ms. Rollins actively supported and was a de facto campaign advisor to Mr. Hayden’s opponent
in the Democratic primary, Ricardo Arroyo. On multiple occasions during the campaign, Mr.
Arroyo raised with Ms. Rollins the possibility that her office announce an investigation of Mr.
Hayden. At one point Mr. Arroyo wrote to Ms. Rollins that such an announcement “[w]ould be

1 This report addresses the violations in order of seriousness instead of chronologically.
2See 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(1); 5 C.F.R. § 734.302(b)(1).

3See 5 C.F.R. § 734.101; id. § 734.306, Example 11.

4 Special Counsel v. Malone, 84 M.S.P.R. 342, 363 (1999).

5See 5 C.F.R. § 734.306(a)(1), (4); id. Example 11.
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the best thing | can have happen at this moment.” Minutes later Ms. Rollins responded,
“Understood. Keep fighting and campaigning. I’'m working on something.”

Over the next several weeks Ms. Rollins made three different attempts to surreptitiously
disclose that DOJ might investigate Mr. Hayden for potential misconduct first made public in an
August 6 Boston Globe article. The evidence clearly establishes that she did so for the purpose
of harming Mr. Hayden’s campaign. She first told a reporter at the Boston Globe—which Ms.
Rollins knew was interested in writing about a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden—that her
office “may be issuing a brief statement about [an investigation of Mr. Hayden] next week.”
This was the same Globe reporter to whom, earlier in the campaign, Ms. Rollins provided
information highly critical of Mr. Hayden’s management of the Suffolk County District
Attorney’s Office—including a list of 10 purported “failures”—all of which she wrote was “OFF
THE RECORD!!!!” However, the Globe did not immediately run a story about an investigation of
Mr. Hayden.

Ms. Rollins then received a letter from an acquaintance, a law professor, asking her to
investigate Mr. Hayden. Mr. Arroyo learned of the letter and told Ms. Rollins that the professor
had sent it to the Globe. Seeing that the Globe was not reporting on the letter, Ms. Rollins told
Mr. Arroyo that he needed the professor to publicly release his letter. In addition, Ms. Rollins
asked one of her subordinates to send the professor a written response stating that she was
seeking recusal from a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden. However, the employee
recognized that Ms. Rollins’s request could lead the professor “to infer (and then share with the
media) that DOJ is investigating” Mr. Hayden, so the employee declined the request.

The next day, Ms. Rollins contacted a Boston Herald reporter to set up a phone call.
Forty minutes after they spoke, the reporter messaged the professor, who had written to Ms.
Rollins, “I understand you reached out to the DOJ about the Hayden [alleged misconduct], and
I've heard there might be some movement on that.” The following day, Herald reporters
contacted both Mr. Hayden’s and Ms. Rollins’s offices to ask about a potential DOJ investigation
of Mr. Hayden. But the Herald ultimately did not run a story before the primary election.

On September 6, Mr. Hayden defeated Mr. Arroyo in the Democratic primary election.
That evening, Mr. Arroyo and Ms. Rollins messaged about the results and allegations that
during the campaign Mr. Hayden released records related to Mr. Arroyo. Ms. Rollins wrote,
“This was just dirty and unethical. Such a piece of shit (illegal) move they did by leaking victims
records. They are not above the law. He will regret the day he did this to you. Watch.”

Three days later, and while Mr. Hayden was still a candidate in the general election, Ms.
Rollins sent a Herald reporter pictures of a memorandum recusing her office from an
investigation of Mr. Hayden. The Herald then published an article disclosing the recusal and
potential investigation. Figure 1 shows a timeline of key events surrounding Ms. Rollins’s
leaking of information about the potential investigation of Mr. Hayden.
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July 25-Aug. 3: Rollins texts and
speaks with a Boston Globe reporter
about Hayden’'s purported
mismanagement of the Suffolk County
District Attorney’s Office.

Aug. 6: The Globe publishes an
article about potential
improprieties by Hayden’s office.

Aug. 3

KEY:

EQUSA = Executive Office
for United States Attorneys
USAQ-MA = U.S. Attorney’s
Office for the District of
Massachusetts

Aug. 10: The Globe publishes a follow-up
article about alleged Hayden misconduct
and Rollins contacts EOUSA about recusal

from potential investigation of Hayden.

TIMELINE OF KEY EVENTS RELATED TO MS. ROLLINS’S DISCLOSURE OF

INFORMATION ABOUT A DOJ INVESTIGATION OF MR. HAYDEN

Aug. 22: Arroyo texts Rollins, “Are y'all announcing an
investigation into [the alleged misconduct] situation with
Hayden? Would be the best thing | can have happen at this
moment.” Rollins responds, “Understood. Keep fighting
and campaigning. I'm working on something.” Rollins also
says Arroyo needs the professor to release his letter.

Sept. 2: Rollins speaks with a Herald reporter for 16 minutes. Forty
minutes later, that reporter wrote to the professor, “l understand you
reached out to the DOJ about the Hayden transit police issue, and I've

heard there might be some movement on that.”

Sept. 9: Rollins texts a Herald
reporter pictures of the

Aug. 8: Arroyo texts Rollins it would “be

August 30: Rollins asks a USAO-MA employee to
respond to the professor's letter. She specifically
asks the employee to reference that she had
sought recusal from any such investigation. The
employee tells Rollins that because she is recused

memorandum recusing USAQO-

appropriate for you to at least comment”
about the August 6 Globe article because
“it seems potentially criminal and you
have the public corruption unit.”

Aug. 16: A law professor and
Rollins acquaintance sends a
letter to Rollins calling for an
investigation of Hayden. Aug. 20: Rollins texts a Globe
reporter that “we may be issuing a
brief statement about [an
investigation of Hayden] next week.”

Aug. 19: Arroyo texts Rollins that the law professor
had sent his letter to the Globe, that the Globe was
“interested” but “in hold right now,” and that the
Globe wanted to know if USAO-MA “would take it up.”

Fig. 1

the employee will handle any communication
with the professor without Rollins’s input.

an article
disclosing

Sept. 6: After primary election

results come in and Arroyo loses,
Rollins texts Arroyo “He will regret
the day he did this to you. Watch.”

Sept. 3: The Herald contacts both a
USAO-MA employee and Hayden's
office to ask about a forthcoming
DQI investigation of Hayden.

Sept. 1: EOUSA recuses
USAO-MA from potential
investigation of Hayden.

August 31: Rollins contacts a
Boston Herald reporter
asking for a quick call.

MA

from an investigation of Hayden.
Sept. 11: The
Herald publishes

Rollins's recusal.

Sept.
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Summary of Investigative Findings — Attending a Political Party Fundraiser

Ms. Rollins also violated the Hatch Act by attending a July 2022 Democratic National
Committee (DNC) fundraiser in Andover, Massachusetts, while on duty, in her official capacity,
and using a government vehicle. Prior to the event she was told repeatedly, both in person and
by email, not to attend the fundraiser. That advice came from both her own staff and DOJ
officials in Washington, DC. Ms. Rollins even admitted to OSC that she had been told “if you get
there and the fundraiser has started, turn around and leave, or something like that.” The Hatch
Act implications were so apparent that a reporter outside the venue asked Ms. Rollins whether
she was concerned that her presence at the event might violate the Hatch Act. Ms. Rollins
responded “no” and, contrary to all the advice she had received, proceeded inside the
fundraiser.

Ms. Rollins claimed that she did not attend the fundraiser but instead went to an event
related to a U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of Massachusetts outreach program, the
BRIDGES program. But there was no BRIDGES event in Andover that day. And her insistence
that she did not attend the fundraiser is wholly contradicted by the evidence. For example,
Ms. Rollins was invited to the fundraiser, was offered food and refreshments while inside, and
took pictures with other attendees and with the fundraiser’s guest of honor, First Lady Dr. Jill
Biden. Ms. Rollins also knew that Dr. Biden was in Andover for a fundraiser, and she knew that
she was going to a DNC event—Ms. Rollins in fact personally spoke with a DNC official to
confirm Ms. Rollins’s attendance. Thus, there is no merit to her contention that she did not
attend the DNC fundraiser.

Conclusion

The legal trigger for OSC to submit a report to the President of Hatch Act violations by a
Senate-confirmed presidential appointee is whether the violations warrant disciplinary action.®
Ms. Rollins’s violations clearly do. One of Congress’s considerations in passing the Hatch Act
was that “it is not only important that the Government and its employees in fact avoid
practicing political justice, but it is also critical that they appear to the public to be avoiding it, if
confidence in the system of representative Government is not to be eroded to a disastrous
extent.”” Ms. Rollins’s abuse of her power within the federal justice system to achieve a
political goal epitomizes the type of “political justice” that Congress intended to prohibit. There
are no mitigating factors that would warrant an outcome short of disciplinary action.
Accordingly, OSC refers the violations to the President for appropriate action.

6See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)-(b).
7 U.S. Civil Serv. Comm’n v. Nat’l Ass’n of Letter Carriers, 413 U.S. 548, 565 (1973).
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. INTRODUCTION

The U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC) is an independent executive branch agency
charged with enforcing the Hatch Act. This report contains the findings and conclusions of
0OSC'’s investigation of allegations that Rachael Rollins, U.S. Attorney for the District of
Massachusetts, violated the Hatch Act by (1) using her official authority or influence to interfere
with or affect the results of an election, and (2) engaging in political activity while on duty and
using a government vehicle.® The investigation began in July 2022 with a complaint alleging
that Ms. Rollins violated the Hatch Act in connection with her attendance at a Democratic
National Committee fundraiser. OSC then broadened its investigation after learning that Ms.
Rollins also leaked non-public U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) information so that news outlets
would report that a political candidate she opposed was facing a DOJ investigation, which
similarly implicated the Hatch Act. In total, OSC interviewed or received information from 11
witnesses, including Ms. Rollins. OSC also reviewed over 1,500 pages of evidence, including
emails, text messages, cell phone records, and social media records.®

As detailed below, OSC has substantiated the allegations and concluded that Ms. Rollins
violated the Hatch Act. Accordingly, OSC submits this Report of Prohibited Political Activity to
President Joseph R. Biden for appropriate disciplinary action.°

1. LEGAL STANDARD REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH A HATCH ACT VIOLATION

The Hatch Act imposes certain restrictions upon the political activity of federal executive
branch employees. For purposes of the Hatch Act, an employee is “any individual, other than

8 0SC also received allegations that Ms. Rollins may have violated the Hatch Act by maintaining an active campaign
account with the Massachusetts Office of Campaign and Political Finance. Ms. Rollins created the account in
connection with her 2018 candidacy for District Attorney of Suffolk County, Massachusetts. After Ms. Rollins
became U.S. Attorney for the District of Massachusetts on January 10, 2022, the campaign account received 39
total contributions, all of which were $25 or less. Receiving political contributions while serving as a federal
employee could implicate the Hatch Act prohibitions on knowingly soliciting, accepting, or receiving political
contributions, 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(2), and on being a candidate for partisan political office, 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(3).
However, there is no evidence to suggest that Ms. Rollins either knew of the contributions being made to the
account or that she was considering running for partisan political office at the time the contributions were made.
Rather, it appears that nearly all of the contributions were the result of automated contributions initiated prior to
Ms. Rollins becoming U.S. Attorney for the District of Massachusetts, and Ms. Rollins directed that all the
contributions be returned once she became aware of them. Accordingly, OSC has concluded that Ms. Rollins did
not violate the Hatch Act in connection with the contributions to her campaign account.

9 0SC provided a draft copy of this report, dated April 25, 2023, to Ms. Rollins for her review and comment. Ms.
Rollins’s comments are appended at the end of this report. In response to Ms. Rollins’s comments, and in order to
avoid unnecessarily disclosing private communications, OSC removed 11 exhibits showing text messages between
Ms. Rollins and Ricardo Arroyo and the associated footnote citations, renumbered the remaining exhibits, and
added footnote 23 summarizing text messages that had previously been included as an exhibit. OSC also made
non-substantive typographical edits. Ms. Rollins did not present any information or arguments affecting OSC’s
statement of the facts, analysis, or conclusions, and so the rest of the report is unchanged.

10 See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(b).
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the President and the Vice President, employed or holding office in . . . an Executive agency
other than the Government Accountability Office.”!!

Ms. Rollins’s conduct implicates two provisions of the Hatch Act. The first, at 5 U.S.C.
§ 7323(a)(1), prohibits (1) federal Executive branch employees (2) from using their official
authority or influence (3) for the purpose of interfering with or affecting the result of an
election.'? The attendant Hatch Act regulation makes clear that it is a prohibited use of official
authority for an employee to use her official title or position while participating in political
activity.!3 “Political activity” is activity directed toward the success or failure of a political party,
partisan political group, or candidate for partisan political office and includes attending a
political event.’* Hatch Act case law similarly holds that an employee violates this prohibition
by “act[ing] in [an] official capacity to further a partisan political campaign.”*> Thus, a covered
federal employee violates this “use of official authority prohibition” by, among other things,
either attending a political event in her official capacity or using her official position to support
or oppose a candidate for partisan political office.

The second, at 5 U.S.C. § 7324(a)(1) and (4), prohibits (1) federal Executive branch
employees (2) from engaging in political activity (3) while on duty or using any vehicle owned or
leased by the Government of the United States. The same definition of “political activity”
applies to this prohibition as applies to the use of official authority prohibition; it is activity
directed toward the success or failure of a political party, partisan political group, or candidate
for partisan political office and includes attending a political event. The definition of “on duty”
includes those times when an employee is representing an agency of the United States
Government in an official capacity.’® A covered federal employee violates this prohibition by,
among other things, attending a political event in her official capacity or by using a government
vehicle to attend a political event.!’

1. INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS
0OSC’s investigation determined that in 2022, Ms. Rollins committed multiple serious and

knowing violations of the Hatch Act. In August and September, she violated 5 U.S.C.
§ 7323(a)(1) by leaking non-public DOJ information, including a recusal memorandum, so that it

115 .5.C. §7322(1).

12 5ee 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(1).

13 See 5 C.F.R. § 734.302(b)(1).

14 See 5 C.F.R. §§ 734.101, 734.306, Example 11 (“If a political event begins while an employee is on duty and
continues into the time when he or she is not on duty, the employee must wait until he or she is not on duty to
attend the event.”).

15 Special Counsel v. Malone, 84 M.S.P.R. 342, 363 (1999).

16 See 5 C.F.R. § 734.101.

7 There is a limited exception to this prohibition for certain employees appointed by the president by and with the
advice and consent of the U.S. Senate, 5 U.S.C. § 7324(b), but as explained infra note 66, that exception is
inapplicable here.
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would be reported in the press that the candidate she opposed in the election for District
Attorney of Suffolk County, Massachusetts, was about to be investigated by DOJ. In July she
violated 5 U.S.C. §§ 7323(a)(1), 7324(a)(1), and 7324(a)(4) by attending a Democratic National
Committee fundraiser in her official capacity and traveling to and from that fundraiser in a
government vehicle. Ms. Rollins’s unabashed willingness to use DOJ resources, information,
and her official authority as a U.S. Attorney in furtherance of partisan political goals is directly
contrary to both the letter and spirit of the Hatch Act.

A. Ms. Rollins is subject to the Hatch Act.

The Hatch Act restricts the political activity of “any individual, other than the President
and the Vice President, employed or holding office in . . . an Executive agency other than the”
Government Accountability Office.?® As U.S. Attorney for the District of Massachusetts, Ms.
Rollins is employed by DOJ. DOJ is an Executive agency.'® Accordingly, Ms. Rollins is employed
by an Executive agency and is therefore subject to the Hatch Act.?°

Because Ms. Rollins is subject to the Hatch Act, DOJ provided her with training about the
law and its provisions. On the day Ms. Rollins was sworn in as U.S. Attorney, staff at the U.S.
Attorney’s Office for the District of Massachusetts gave her an in-person ethics training. That
training included a slide deck with 12 slides about the Hatch Act. One slide specifically
discussed the use of official authority prohibition and gave examples of how an employee might
violate that prohibition by, for example, using one’s official title or position when engaging in
political activity, or by using agency resources or non-public information for political purposes.

B. Ms. Rollins violated the Hatch Act when she leaked non-public DOJ information for the
purpose of damaging the campaign of Suffolk County District Attorney candidate
Kevin Hayden.

0OSC’s investigation established that Ms. Rollins used her official authority as U.S.
Attorney for the District of Massachusetts to interfere in the 2022 election for District Attorney
(DA) of Suffolk County, Massachusetts. Ms. Rollins was a de facto campaign advisor to Ricardo

185U.5.C. §7322(1).

1% See 5 U.S.C. §§ 101, 105 (classifying DOJ as an Executive department and defining “Executive agency” to include
Executive departments).

20 Certain federal employees are “further restricted” under the Hatch Act and may not take an active part in
political management or campaigns. See 5 U.S.C. § 7323(b). As a Senate-confirmed presidential appointee, Ms.
Rollins is not “further restricted” by statute and so is not subject to the “further restricted” rules for purposes of
0OSC’s jurisdiction. See id. (exempting from the “further restricted” rules those employees “appointed by the
President, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate”). However, Ms. Rollins is considered a “further
restricted” employee for purposes of DOJ policy. Because OSC has no jurisdiction to apply the “further restricted”
rules to Ms. Rollins, OSC makes no finding with respect to whether any of her conduct described in this report
constitutes taking an active part in political management or campaigns and leaves any such determination to DOJ,
the agency that promulgated the applicable policy.
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Arroyo, a candidate in the Democratic primary held on September 6, 2022. As part of an effort
to harm the campaign of Mr. Arroyo’s opponent, incumbent DA Kevin Hayden, Ms. Rollins gave
reporters non-public DOJ information so that they would report that Mr. Hayden was facing a
potential DOJ investigation. This included sending one reporter pictures of a DOJ memorandum
recusing her from an investigation of Mr. Hayden with instructions that the leak was “off the
record,” “not attributed to me,” and that the reporter “CANNOT leak the document.” Ms.
Rollins leaked the information after being told by Mr. Arroyo that the announcement of a DOJ
investigation of Mr. Hayden would be “the best thing | can have happen at this moment.” By
leaking non-public DOJ information for the purpose of damaging Mr. Hayden’s campaign, Ms.
Rollins violated the Hatch Act prohibition against using her official authority or influence for the
purpose of interfering with or affecting the results of an election.

1. Ms. Rollins worked behind the scenes to assist Suffolk County DA candidate Ricardo
Arroyo and oppose incumbent DA Kevin Hayden.

Ms. Rollins actively supported Mr. Arroyo in his campaign for Suffolk County DA, and for
months leading up to the election she was in regular communication with him about his
campaign.?! Ms. Rollins gave him advice and encouragement and also suggested lines of attack
for Mr. Arroyo to use against his opponent, Mr. Hayden. The following are representative
examples of the hundreds of text messages?? that Ms. Rollins and Mr. Arroyo exchanged.
Unless otherwise indicated through use of brackets, all text messages are reproduced as
written and include the sender’s typographical and grammatical errors.

- Aluly 12 text message in which Ms. Rollins identified Mr. Hayden’s endorsers and
wrote, “5 endorsements. 4.5 of them White. No mercy. Finish him.”

- Aluly 20 text message in which Ms. Rollins wrote about news coverage of a judicial
ruling, “Stood alone on this. Wrote the pleading and signed it myself. Fought my
office tooth and nail to do so and then had to fight my 4 ‘collegues’ and won. But
Hayden is quoted as if he did shit. Boy bye. ... Not for public consumption. Just for
you, but you can use those facts.”

- Aluly 23 text message in which Ms. Rollins wrote, “Also, [hit] Kevin on the MBTA
investigation. . . . the next time he says he is aligned with me, mention List of 15 (you
already do that) and [a case allegedly mishandled by Mr. Hayden’s office] (just did,
keep it up), and ADD THE MBTA. You are doing a great job. Keep it up.”

21 The reason for Ms. Rollins’s support appears to be that Mr. Arroyo publicly aligned himself with the policies she
enacted during her tenure as Suffolk County DA. For example, Mr. Arroyo referred to the 2022 Democratic
primary as “a referendum on whether or not voters want to continue with the reforms Rachael Rollins has begun
or go backwards.” Michael Jonas, Rollins reforms loom over Suffolk DA race, CommonWealth, Feb. 18, 2022,
available at https://commonwealthmagazine.org/criminal-justice/rollins-reforms-loom-over-suffolk-da-race-2/.
Ms. Rollins also suggested in a text message to Mr. Arroyo that he “[m]aybe point out that Kevin [Hayden] does
not actually support much that | stand for.”

22 As used in this report, the term “text message” refers to electronic communications sent or received using SMS,
MMS, iMessage, WhatsApp, or any similar electronic messaging system.




Report of Prohibited Political Activity
OSC File No. HA-22-000173
Page 10 of 25

- An August 8 text message in which Ms. Rollins wrote of Mr. Hayden, “Light him up.”

- An August 20 text message in which Ms. Rollins told Mr. Arroyo to “never
underestimate ‘little papers’” when it comes to campaign communications and also
to “Start going to Black churches. 2 every Sunday. Go to his church. I’'m serious.
Chances are he won’t be there. That takes.”

- An August 28 text message in which Ms. Rollins asked Mr. Arroyo, “When is the
[Boston] Globe making their announcement about endorsing? When is your
interview? If you aren’t interviewing, can you have [an individual] work on keeping
them out of your race?”

Ms. Rollins’s messages show that she was functionally a campaign advisor to Mr.
Arroyo. For example, after an incumbent elected prosecutor in a different jurisdiction lost in a
primary election, Ms. Rollins wrote to Mr. Arroyo with messaging tips: “We have to have
talking points about this. People are going to say this is a trend. . . . Say legal issues likely
clouded this election. . .. You have respect for the hard work the police do, but you will hold
them to a high standard, as you should. Good luck.” Mr. Arroyo similarly treated Ms. Rollins as
a campaign advisor, including by sending her campaign communications to review and by
asking her to speak with reporters on his behalf.?> Ms. Rollins admitted to OSC that she agreed
to speak with reporters at Mr. Arroyo’s request.

Ms. Rollins was so involved in the Suffolk County DA election that she began to view
some of her official engagements as U.S. Attorney through the lens of whether they would help
Mr. Arroyo’s or hurt Mr. Hayden’s campaigns. She described to OSC how when she went to
events in communities that voted for her for Suffolk County DA in 2018, Mr. Hayden would
constantly appear next to her. Ms. Rollins thought that “lots of people believed | was endorsing
Kevin Hayden because of all the public-facing events that we were at together” and that “I just
felt like everywhere | was, DA Hayden was always there because | got a lot of the votes that he
had wanted.” In an apparent effort to give Mr. Arroyo similar exposure, Ms. Rollins messaged
him and wrote, “Make sure you let me know about stuff that | can show up at. And we can
‘happen’ to be there together.”?*

2 For example, on August 22, 2022, Mr. Arroyo told Ms. Rollins that he would ask a reporter to reach out to her
about an issue relevant to the campaign. And the next day, Mr. Arroyo sent Ms. Rollins a proposed campaign
statement that Ms. Rollins edited and sent back to him.

24 The Hatch Act prohibits employees from using their official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering
with or affecting the results of an election. 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(1). OSC has issued multiple public reports
concluding that employees violate this prohibition by scheduling official events for the purpose of promoting or
supporting a candidate for partisan political office. See U.S. Office of Special Counsel, Investigation of Political
Activities by Senior Trump Administration Officials During the 2020 Presidential Election 37 (Nov. 9, 2021) (“[T]he
Hatch Act prohibits government officials from holding purportedly official events for the purpose of promoting a
candidate for partisan political office.”); see also generally U.S. Office of Special Counsel, Investigation of Political
Activities by White House and Federal Agency Officials During the 2006 Midterm Elections, Chapter Five (Jan. 2011)
(government officials cannot engage in otherwise-permissible events if the underlying purpose is to promote the
campaign of a candidate for partisan political office). If Ms. Rollins held official events alongside Mr. Arroyo for the
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Aside from advising Mr. Arroyo in his campaign, Ms. Rollins also served as a source for
news articles critical of Mr. Hayden. From July 25 to August 10, Ms. Rollins both spoke and
texted multiple times with a Boston Globe reporter about Mr. Hayden.?> In those text messages
Ms. Rollins gave the reporter a list of Mr. Hayden’s purported “failures” since he had been
appointed as DA, accused him of “cowardice and poor leadership,” and suggested that he had
no incentive to prosecute law enforcement officers.?® She also sent the reporter lines of inquiry
to pursue in reporting on whether Mr. Hayden’s office was delaying a case involving alleged
police officer misconduct.?’

Ms. Rollins’s efforts on behalf of Mr. Arroyo show that she was personally involved in,
and committed to, his campaign for Suffolk County DA. Furthermore, in suggesting that she
and Mr. Arroyo should “happen” to be at official events together to counteract any electoral
benefit that Mr. Hayden received from appearing with her, Ms. Rollins expressed a desire to go
beyond providing behind-the-scenes advice and in fact use her position as U.S. Attorney to
benefit Mr. Arroyo’s campaign. And her messages make clear that she both strongly disagreed
with Mr. Hayden’s management of the Suffolk County District Attorney’s Office and was eager
to discuss his “failures” with reporters. Thus, the evidence establishes that in addition to
supporting Mr. Arroyo, Ms. Rollins was actively opposed to Mr. Hayden’s candidacy.

purpose of supporting his campaign, as suggested by her text message, that would have constituted an additional
violation of the Hatch Act. OSC learned of Ms. Rollins’s text message at the end of its investigation. Considering
the seriousness of the violations documented in this report, OSC decided not to delay issuance of this report in
order to timely notify the President of Ms. Rollins’s egregious misconduct.
25 See Ex. 1, at 1-8.
26 |d. at 2, 6. In one representative text message, Ms. Rollins wrote:
“OFF THE RECORD!!!! . . . Here are the things Kevin undid in the first few weeks of his
appointment to serve the remained of my elected term (or other failures): ... Fired [an
employee] without ever meeting with him. We had several key Public Private Partnership that |
had created and cultivated . . . that he jeaprodizes and/or lost because of his arrogance or
ignorance, or both. . .. Ended the List of 15. Arguably what | am known for the most, he ended.
And claims he want a case by case analysis — proving he doesn’t know what he is talking about or
anything about the List of 15. | wanted thing in writing so everyone got the same rules applied to
them. Kevin is leaving everything to his ADAs, that no longer revive the culturally competent
training | established. Or if he says they do, IT IS BECAUSE | ESTABLISHED THE TRAINING. . .. He
gets a complete pass for screwing up the Sex Offenser Board (whose SOLE mission is to
document where sex offenders are) by losing over 1000 sex offenders, but every article about
Ricardo always mentions [REDACTED]. He also made a horrible statement about criminal
defense attorneys and the Kevin always believes victims. Ask Kevin about the victim [REDACTED]
sexually assaulted on a plane. Does he believe her? ... Let me know if you need anything else.”
Id. at 2.
27 |d. at 8.
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2. In August 2022, Ms. Rollins sought a recusal from DOJ regarding a potential
investigation of Mr. Hayden.

On August 6, 2022, the Boston Globe published an article reporting potential
improprieties in how Mr. Hayden’s office had handled a police misconduct investigation. The
article raised the possibility of a quid pro quo involving a defense attorney making contributions
to Mr. Hayden’s election campaign. The Globe published a related article on August 10.
Because the disclosures in the two Globe articles related to matters potentially within the
jurisdiction of Ms. Rollins’s office, Ms. Rollins contacted the Executive Office for United States
Attorneys (EOUSA) to seek recusal from any investigation of Mr. Hayden.

On August 16, prior to DOJ acting on Ms. Rollins’s recusal request, a law-professor
acquaintance, with whom Ms. Rollins regularly communicated, sent her a letter calling for an
investigation of Mr. Hayden based upon the reporting in the Globe and other outlets.?® Ms.
Rollins forwarded the professor’s letter to EOUSA and said, “We will not respond until you and |
have a discussion.”

On September 1, DOJ recused Ms. Rollins and the entire U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
District of Massachusetts (USAO-MA) from the potential investigation and prosecution of Mr.
Hayden. Ms. Rollins understood that her recusal meant there must be some underlying matter
to be recused from, which in this case was an investigation of Mr. Hayden.?® She also
understood, as she wrote in a text message, that public disclosure of an investigation of Mr.
Hayden “of course” would impact the election.3® So she set about to do just that—impact the
election in its final weeks by using her recusal as the basis for telling reporters that Mr. Hayden
was facing a DOJ investigation.

3. Ms. Rollins, knowing that Mr. Arroyo wanted her to announce an investigation of Mr.
Hayden, leaked information about her recusal to reporters so that they would write
that Mr. Hayden was facing an investigation.

Ms. Rollins knew that Mr. Arroyo wanted a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden made
public. On August 8, he wrote to Ms. Rollins that it would “be appropriate for you to at least
comment” about what the Boston Globe reported about Mr. Hayden because “it seems
potentially criminal and you have the public corruption unit.” On August 19, Mr. Arroyo told
Ms. Rollins that the professor had given the Globe a copy of his letter requesting an

28 Most of Ms. Rollins’s emails with the professor were sent and received from her personal email account, though
the professor sent the August 16 letter to both Ms. Rollins’s DOJ and personal email accounts.

2% When testifying to OSC about her recusal from a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden, Ms. Rollins said: “I didn’t
have any information about what we were or weren’t doing because | wasn’t involved in any investigation. But |
knew that | was being—or was—recused from this matter completely. And therefore somebody was going to at
least look and see.”

30 When texting with a reporter about her recusal from an investigation of Mr. Hayden, Ms. Rollins wrote: “I think
DOJ was fearful of weighing in and impacting the election. And of course, it would have and did.” Ex. 2, at 7.
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investigation of Mr. Hayden. Mr. Arroyo further said that the Globe was “interested” but
wanted to know whether USAO-MA “would take it up” and that his campaign was “pushing” for
an article. On August 22, he wrote, “Are y’all announcing an investigation into [the police
misconduct case] situation with Hayden? Would be the best thing | can have happen at this
moment.” Minutes later, Ms. Rollins responded, “Understood. Keep fighting and campaigning.
I’'m working on something.”

Ms. Rollins told OSC that she could not recall what she meant by “I’'m working on
something” but, in reference to the inculpatory nature of the message, she said she
“underst[ood] what that looks like.” And it is clear from the evidence that what she was
working on was how to disclose that Mr. Hayden was facing a federal investigation. Her first
attempt was in response to Mr. Arroyo’s August 19 message in which he said that the Globe
had the professor’s letter and wanted to know whether USAO-MA “would take it up.”3! Ms.
Rollins asked Mr. Arroyo whether there was “any movement” from the Globe, and Mr. Arroyo
responded that the Globe was “in hold right now.” The next day, in what appears to have been
an attempt to spur a Globe article, Ms. Rollins messaged a reporter from the Globe and said
“we may be issuing a brief statement about [an investigation of Mr. Hayden] next week. | will
let you know.”3? Although Ms. Rollins’s language implied USAO-MA was considering an
investigation, the Globe did not immediately run an article.

Two days later, on August 22, Ms. Rollins told Mr. Arroyo that he needed the professor
to release his letter requesting that USAO-MA investigate Mr. Hayden. On August 30, Ms.
Rollins asked a USAO-MA employee to respond to the professor’s letter. According to the
employee, Ms. Rollins “wanted the [the response to the professor] to say that she had sought
the recusal from EOUSA.”33 The employee declined to include that language because, as the
employee wrote in an email to EOUSA discussing a proposed response to the professor, the
employee understood that it might lead the professor “to infer (and then share with the media)
that DOJ is investigating.” EOUSA agreed that disclosing the recusal might “giv[e] the
impression that the department is investigating the matter.” At the time that Ms. Rollins made
this request she knew that the professor had provided information to the Globe, she had
suggested to Mr. Arroyo that he have the professor make his letter public, and, like both the
USAO-MA and EOUSA employees, she understood that a recusal indicated that someone was
investigating Mr. Hayden. However, the USAO-MA employee intentionally waited until after

31 The evidence strongly suggests that Ms. Rollins and Mr. Arroyo strategized about how the professor’s letter
might be used as the basis for a story about a DOJ investigation of Mr. Hayden. On August 17, the day after she
received the professor’s letter, Ms. Rollins spoke with Mr. Arroyo for 35 minutes. It is unclear what they discussed.
But two days later, and with no other context, Mr. Arroyo texted Ms. Rollins that “[the professor] sent the request
to globe.” Despite the lack of context, Ms. Rollins did not express any surprise, confusion, or misunderstanding
about what Mr. Arroyo meant. She simply responded, “Any movement for you?”

32Ex. 3,at 1.

33 Although the employee could not recall the exact date of the call, based upon the employee’s description of the
call and OSC'’s review of relevant phone records it is most likely that the call took place on August 30.
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the Democratic primary to respond so as to avoid any potential use of the USAO-MA response
in connection with the election, thus frustrating Ms. Rollins’s efforts.

With one week to go until the Democratic primary, the Globe had not run a story about
a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden, and Ms. Rollins had been unable to get USAO-MA to
respond to the professor’s letter. So she then turned to the Boston Herald.

On August 31, Ms. Rollins messaged a Herald reporter asking for a quick call.3* The two
spoke by phone for 16 minutes on Friday, September 2. Ms. Rollins told OSC that she could not
recall what she and the reporter discussed but admitted that she may have talked about a
potential DOJ investigation of Mr. Hayden. Approximately 40 minutes after speaking with Ms.
Rollins the reporter messaged the professor and wrote, “l understand you reached out to the
DOJ about the Hayden [REDACTED] issue, and I've heard there might be some movement on
that.”3>

The next day, September 3, the Herald reporter called a USAO-MA employee to ask
about the investigation of Mr. Hayden. According to the employee, the reporter was aware of
Ms. Rollins being recused from any such investigation and indicated that the reporter wanted
to run a story prior to Tuesday, the date of the Democratic primary. Based upon the
information that the reporter shared, the employee correctly inferred that the reporter had
been speaking with Ms. Rollins and cautioned the reporter to consider whether the reporter’s
source might have an “axe to grind” against Mr. Hayden.

That same day, a different Herald reporter emailed Mr. Hayden’s office and wrote that
the Herald had “information that there will be an investigation into the Suffolk District
Attorney’s office over the DA’s decision not to prosecute [a particular case]. | was looking for a
response from the DA’s office regarding the investigation, which involves a claim that [a
defense attorney], a donor to Kevin Hayden, prompted the DA not to prosecute.”3® Mr.
Hayden’s office recommended that the reporter “vet your sources thoroughly because this has
the ring of campaign season silliness.”3” Ultimately, the Herald held the story until after the
September 6 primary.3®

Despite her efforts, Ms. Rollins was unable to get either the Globe or the Herald to run
an article about a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden prior to the September 6 Democratic
primary election. Mr. Hayden won the primary and advanced to the November 8 general

34Ex. 2, at 1.
35Ex. 4, at 1.
36 Ex. 5, at 1.
3 |Id.

3 d. at 8.
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election. After the election results came in on September 6, Mr. Arroyo messaged Ms. Rollins
about the campaign. She responded:

This was just dirty and unethical. Such a piece of shit (illegal) move they did by
leaking victims records. They are not above the law. He will regret the day he
did this to you. Watch.

On September 9, Ms. Rollins spoke for 15 minutes with the same Herald reporter with
whom she spoke on September 2. Approximately 30 minutes later the reporter emailed the
Suffolk County District Attorney’s Office (SCDAQO) and wrote, “According to a federal law
enforcement source, the DOJ is looking into investigating the SCDAO around [an SCDAOQ]
investigation. I’'m getting more specifics later today . ... | believe one of my coworkers put this
to you last weekend for a story we ultimately decided to hold . .. .”3° Over the next 80 minutes
SCDAO and the reporter exchanged emails about the nature of the investigation and the
reliability of the reporter’s source.*® After emailing with SCDAO, the reporter messaged Ms.
Rollins and asked for a copy of the recusal memo. She sent it to him, “Off the record. Not
attributed to me. Prefer you say source within DOJ with information who preferred to stay
anonymous for fear of discipline or something like that. Also you CANNOT leak the
document.”*! On September 11 the Herald published an article quoting from the recusal memo
and describing a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden.

Notably, in leaking information about the potential investigation of Mr. Hayden, Ms.
Rollins chose news outlets for whom she had previously served as a source. In May 2022 she
leaked a non-public DOJ letter to the Herald describing a DOJ investigation, which resulted in the
Herald publishing an article that same day.*? In June 2022 she similarly leaked a non-public DOJ
letter to the Globe describing a separate DOJ investigation, which again resulted in an article
that same day.*®* And in early August she provided information to a Globe reporter relevant to
that paper’s reporting about Mr. Hayden and his purported failures as DA. Ms. Rollins’s efforts
to leak information about the potential investigation of Mr. Hayden were consistent with, if less
immediately successful than, her prior leaks of information about DOJ investigations.

In sum, there is no question that Ms. Rollins leaked a copy of her recusal letter to the
Herald on September 9, after the primary election and before the general election; Ms. Rollins
admitted as much and provided OSC with the relevant text messages. The evidence also shows
that she leaked information about her recusal and a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden prior
to the September 6 primary election. Ms. Rollins was in contact with multiple reporters before

3.

40d. at 5-8.

41 Ex. 2, at 3.

42 Ex. 6, at 1-5.

43 Ex. 7, at 1-8. The frequency with which information about cases would leak shortly after Ms. Rollins received
that information led one employee to describe Ms. Rollins as the “queen of coincidental timing.”
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the primary election, and shortly after her communications—in some cases less than an hour
later—reporters felt they had sufficiently credible information to represent to others that DOJ
might investigate Mr. Hayden. The reporters were the same ones for whom Ms. Rollins had
previously served as a source either about USAO-MA activities or at Mr. Arroyo’s request. And
Ms. Rollins understood that Mr. Arroyo was keenly interested in generating reporting that Mr.
Hayden was under federal investigation because that reporting would help Mr. Arroyo’s
campaign. Furthermore, in testimony to OSC, Ms. Rollins did not deny leaking the information
before the primary election, but rather said that she could not recall whether she did so. The
evidence shows that Ms. Rollins leaked information about an investigation of Mr. Hayden for
the purpose of hurting his campaign.

4. By leaking non-public DOJ information for the purpose of harming a candidate, Ms.
Rollins violated the Hatch Act prohibition against using her official authority or
influence to interfere with or affect an election.

The Hatch Act prohibits Ms. Rollins from using her official authority or influence for the
purpose of interfering with or affecting the results of an election.** An employee violates the
use of official authority prohibition by engaging in political activity while acting in an official
capacity. In Special Counsel v. Malone, the Merit Systems Protection Board held that an
employee violated the prohibition when he “acted in his official capacity to further a partisan
political campaign.”*

OSC’s interpretation of the use of official authority prohibition is further guided by the
U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in U.S. Civil Service Commission v. National Association of Letter
Carriers, a case affirming the constitutionality of the Hatch Act.*® In that case the Court noted
that one of Congress’s considerations in passing the Hatch Act was that:

it is not only important that the Government and its employees in fact avoid
practicing political justice, but it is also critical that they appear to the public to
be avoiding it, if confidence in the system of representative Government is not
to be eroded to a disastrous extent.*’

Ms. Rollins’s actions epitomize the type of “political justice” that Congress intended to
prohibit. Ms. Rollins is the U.S. Attorney for the District of Massachusetts. Inherent in her

445 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(1). The Hatch Act prohibitions apply only to partisan elections. See United Public Workers of
America v. Mitchell, 330 U.S. 75, 100 (1947) (“It is only partisan political activity that is interdicted.”). The election
at issue here was inarguably partisan because the candidates were competing in a partisan primary election. Cf. 5
C.F.R. § 734.101 (defining a “nonpartisan election” as one in which none of the candidates is to be nominated as
representing, for example, the Republican or Democratic party); see also, e.g., Special Counsel v. Kane, 77 M.S.P.R.
530, 531 (1998) (finding the Hatch Act applied with respect to a partisan primary election).

4584 M.S.P.R. 342, 363 (1999).

46413 U.S. 548 (1973).

47 Id. at 565.
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position is the authority to speak on behalf of USAO-MA and, by extension, DOJ, regarding
federal investigations and prosecutions in Massachusetts. The only reason that Ms. Rollins’s
disclosures about DOJ activities, including a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden, carried any
weight was her authority as U.S. Attorney. Ms. Rollins used that authority to leak non-public
DOJ information about a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden. Based upon the significant
documentary evidence—a substantial portion of which comprises Ms. Rollins’s own words as
recorded in her electronic communications—and testimony that OSC received during its
investigation, it is clear that she leaked the information for a political purpose, namely to
sabotage Mr. Hayden’s campaign. In so doing, she violated the Hatch Act prohibition against
using her official authority or influence to interfere with or affect the results of an election.

OSC notes that most of Ms. Rollins’s efforts took place before the September 6 primary
and were directed toward both helping the candidacy of Mr. Arroyo and hurting the candidacy
of Mr. Hayden. But her efforts against Mr. Hayden continued even after Mr. Arroyo was
defeated in the primary and Mr. Hayden advanced to the general election. Just three days after
the primary—and three days after telling Mr. Arroyo that Mr. Hayden would “regret the day he
did this to you. Watch”—M:s. Rollins leaked pictures of her recusal memo to a reporter. Itis no
defense that Mr. Hayden was unopposed in the general election; the Hatch Act applies equally
to both contested and uncontested elections,*® and the evidence shows that Ms. Rollins was
motivated by a desire to harm Mr. Hayden’s candidacy.

It is also no defense that Ms. Rollins’s attempts to generate a story about an
investigation of Mr. Hayden prior to the September 6 primary election were unsuccessful. The
only factors relevant in establishing a violation of the use of official authority prohibition are
whether the employee used her official authority and whether her purpose in doing so was to
interfere with or affect the result of an election. There is no requirement that the employee’s
attempt succeed. As stated in a recent Merit Systems Protection Board decision:

the only relevant question as it concerns a Section 7323(a)(1) [use of official
authority] violation is the “purpose” of the actor and use of official authority.
Nowhere in the statute does it say the actor must be successful in affecting or
interfering with an election, nor that the attempt actually ever causes someone
to act in a way that would interfere or affect an election. To the contrary,
Section 7323(a)(1) merely prohibits the use of official authority for the purpose
of interfering with or affecting the results of an election, regardless of how
successful the use of the authority actually is.*

48 See Special Counsel v. DeWitt, 113 M.S.P.R. 458, 460 (2010) (finding that an employee violated the Hatch Act
prohibition on being a candidate for partisan political office even though the employee ran unopposed); Special
Counsel v. Johnson, 26 M.S.P.R. 560, 562 (1985) (same).

49 Special Counsel v. DePaolo, MSPB Docket No. CB-1216-18-0016-T-1, at 23-24 (Sept. 13, 2019).
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For the reasons stated above, OSC has determined that in leaking information to reporters Ms.
Rollins used the power and influence of her position as U.S. Attorney to harm Mr. Hayden’s
campaign for Suffolk County DA. That is sufficient to establish that she violated the Hatch Act.
It is of no consequence whether her actions ultimately affected the outcome of the election.

Ms. Rollins’s violation is made worse by her knowledge of wrongdoing, which is
apparent from her own words. In the September 9 exchange where she sent the Herald
reporter pictures of her recusal memo she wrote “Off the record. Not attributed to me. Prefer
you say source within DOJ with information who preferred to stay anonymous for fear of
discipline or something like that. Also you CANNOT leak the document.” The only reason a
source would fear discipline is if it was wrong for the source to be disclosing information.
Furthermore, when asked by the reporter if the reporter could quote from the document, Ms.
Rollins wrote, “As long as you can keep confidential where you got it and will never release it if
someone makes a public records request.” And on September 11, after the Herald published
an article quoting from the recusal memo, Ms. Rollins immediately messaged her staff and
wrote “WTF!?! ... How are they quoting things?”° These messages show that Ms. Rollins
knew it was wrong to leak the memo and, at least in communications with her staff, that she
had to feign outrage that it was made public.

In conclusion, Ms. Rollins supported Mr. Arroyo’s candidacy and was opposed to Mr.
Hayden’s. She knew that Mr. Arroyo wanted a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden made
public. She had regular communications with reporters from the Globe and the Herald, and in
the three weeks from August 20 to September 9 she disclosed to reporters from both
newspapers that DOJ was potentially going to investigate Mr. Hayden. Her credibility in making
those disclosures derived from Ms. Rollins’s authority as U.S. Attorney. And she made the
disclosures for the purpose of harming Mr. Hayden’s candidacy for Suffolk County DA, first in
the Democratic primary and then in the ensuing general election. Accordingly, Ms. Rollins
willfully violated the Hatch Act by using her official authority or influence for the purpose of
interfering with or affecting the election for Suffolk County DA.

C. Ms. Rollins violated the Hatch Act when she attended a Democratic National
Committee fundraiser in her official capacity and while using a government vehicle.

0SC’s investigation established that Ms. Rollins attended a Democratic National
Committee (DNC) fundraiser on July 14, 2022, in Andover, Massachusetts, in her official
capacity as U.S. Attorney for the District of Massachusetts. She did so despite repeatedly being
advised not to attend the fundraiser. Ms. Rollins attended the fundraiser while on duty and
used a U.S. government vehicle to get to and from the event. She therefore violated the Hatch
Act prohibitions against using her official authority or influence for the purpose of interfering
with or affecting the results of an election and engaging in political activity while on duty
and/or using a government vehicle.

50 Ex. 8, at 2.
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1. Ms. Rollins attended a DNC fundraiser in her official capacity. She also used a
government vehicle to travel to and from the event.

On July 7, 2022, one of the hosts of the July 14 DNC fundraiser sent a U.S. Attorney’s
Office for the District of Massachusetts (USAO-MA) employee an invitation for Ms. Rollins to
attend the DNC fundraiser in Andover.>* The invitation read, “The Democratic Party . ..
invite[s] you to a reception with Dr. Jill Biden in support of the Democratic Grassroots Victory
Fund.”>?> The Democratic Grassroots Victory Fund is “a joint fundraising committee authorized
by the Democratic National Committee and the state Democratic parties in” the 50 states and
the District of Columbia. The invitation stated that “[c]ontributions will be used in connection
with federal elections.”>® The host asked for Ms. Rollins to arrive at the DNC fundraiser by 4
p.m. and noted that Dr. Biden would arrive at 4:45 p.m.>*

Ms. Rollins was first told about the invitation to the DNC fundraiser during a meeting on
Monday, July 11. In that meeting she was shown a copy of the fundraiser invitation and
advised by a USAO-MA employee, who had already discussed the invitation with an ethics
official, not to attend the fundraiser. Despite that advice, Ms. Rollins said that she wanted to go
to the event. The employee then told her that, as an alternative, Ms. Rollins could meet with
Dr. Biden, provided the meeting took place outside the fundraiser venue and Ms. Rollins did not
attend the fundraiser. Less than two hours after that meeting the employee memorialized this
advice in an email to a USAO-MA supervisor:

| wanted to make sure you were brought up to speed on an invitation [Ms.
Rollins] received to attend a fundraiser for Dr. Jill Biden with the DNC. | told [Ms.
Rollins] today that she received the invitation, but we advised her not to attend.
We suggested that if she really wanted to greet [Dr. Biden], that she could do so
by walking the 10 minutes through the Secret Service barricade to say hi to [Dr.
Biden] outside of the event. We told her that she should not go in. She agreed
to this plan, and acknowledged that she should not go in. | asked [another
USAO-MA employee] to check with [the General Counsel’s Office of the
Executive Office for United States Attorneys (EOUSA)] . . . to make sure this plan
was ok.>>

51Ex. 9, at 1. The employee who received the invitation was invited as well.

521d. at 2.

3 d.

5 1d. at 1.

55 Ex. 10, at 1. Several emails provided to OSC, including the email at the top of Exhibit 10, reflect a time zone that
is not the Eastern time zone. Thus, while the email at the top of Exhibit 10 shows that it was sent at 7:24 p.m., it
was in fact sent at 3:24 p.m. Eastern time.
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After the meeting where Ms. Rollins was advised not to attend the DNC fundraiser,
USAO-MA sought advice from EOUSA about Ms. Rollins meeting Dr. Biden outside the
fundraiser venue. The USAO-MA employee who communicated with EOUSA wrote that Ms.
Rollins “wants to meet with Dr. Jill Biden outside the location of the event .. ... It would just be
a brief meet-and-greet outdoors, and then [Ms. Rollins] would leave.”*® An EOUSA attorney
responded and confirmed their understanding that Ms. Rollins “will not be attending the
fundraiser, providing remarks of any kind, or discussing policy or legislation on July 14. We do
not see an issue with [Ms. Rollins] simply meeting with the First Lady individually in a meet and
greet type situation and then leaving after the meet and greet.”>’

Ms. Rollins received EOUSA’s guidance. A USAO-MA employee both forwarded it to Ms.
Rollins®® and printed the guidance and discussed it with her in person. During that meeting the
employee spoke with Ms. Rollins about the fact that the proposed meeting with Dr. Biden
would need to be outside. And Ms. Rollins acknowledged to OSC that she received advice prior
to the event that she should not attend the fundraiser. Specifically, she recalled being told “if
you get there and the fundraiser has started, turn around and leave, or something like that.”

On July 12, Ms. Rollins spoke with a DNC official about attending the DNC’s event.
During that conversation Ms. Rollins asked the DNC official to contact one of her subordinates
to discuss the logistics of her attendance. That employee also spoke with the DNC official on
July 12 and, according to the employee, the DNC official expressed surprise that Ms. Rollins was
planning to attend and specifically mentioned the Hatch Act. The next day Ms. Rollins sent a
text message to multiple USAO-MA employees:

Because we changed [a USAO-MA event] to a zoom that is much smaller, | CAN
GO TO THE DR JILL BIDEN EVENT!!! PLEASE MAKE SURE EVERYONE KNOWS THAT
IS NOW A YES. [The DNC official] called me yesterday to confirm.>?

After exchanging messages with the employees about her schedule, Ms. Rollins then wrote,
“Speak to [a USAO-MA employee] — who told the DNC that | am going to the Biden event.”®°

On July 14 a USAO-MA employee drove Ms. Rollins in a government vehicle to the
fundraiser venue in Andover.?! She arrived at approximately 4:40 p.m., and while she was

56 Ex. 11, at 2.

571d. at 1.

8 d.

59 Ex. 12, at 1.

60 /d. at 5.

61 Ms. Rollins participated in a virtual meeting while in transit between Andover and a later USAO-MA event. The
USAO-MA employee drove Ms. Rollins to allow her to participate in that virtual meeting. The employee did not
want or intend to go inside the DNC fundraiser, but once Ms. Rollins went inside the employee went with her in
order to maintain situational awareness. While inside the employee took pictures of Ms. Rollins posing with other
fundraiser attendees.
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walking to the venue, a reporter asked her whether she was concerned that her presence at the
event was a violation of the Hatch Act. Ms. Rollins responded “no” and continued walking. She
then took a Covid-19 test outside the DNC fundraiser venue, waited several minutes for a
negative result, and then, disregarding the Hatch Act advice she had received, went inside the
DNC fundraiser.

Upon entering the fundraiser Ms. Rollins greeted other attendees and was offered food
and a beverage. At one point she was escorted to a room where she took a picture with Dr.
Biden. She then took pictures with other fundraiser attendees, including a U.S. Senator with
whom Ms. Rollins had a longstanding personal relationship and at least one person who Ms.
Rollins understood to be a host of the event. Ms. Rollins was at the DNC fundraiser until 5:01
p.m., at which point she and the USAO-MA employee who drove her to the event left to attend
a USAO-MA event.

By her own account Ms. Rollins went to Andover in her official capacity. For example,
Ms. Rollins said that “l was only invited because I’'m the U.S. Attorney,” “this was only offered
to me in my official capacity,” and that going to Andover “was not a personal dalliance for me.”
She also testified that the only reason the USAO-MA employee went to the event with Ms.
Rollins was “for work,” including to allow Ms. Rollins to participate in a virtual meeting while in
transit from Andover to a later USAO-MA event. Thus, there is no dispute that Ms. Rollins went
to Andover in her official capacity as U.S. Attorney.

2. Ms. Rollins committed three separate violations of the Hatch Act by attending the
DNC fundraiser in her official capacity—and therefore while on duty—and also by
using a government vehicle to travel to and from the event.

Three questions are relevant in assessing whether Ms. Rollins violated the Hatch Act
while in Andover on July 14, 2022. First, did Ms. Rollins go to Andover in her official capacity?
Second, did Ms. Rollins travel to and from Andover in a government vehicle? And third, while in
Andover did Ms. Rollins attend the DNC fundraiser? The answer to each question is yes.
Therefore, as further explained below, Ms. Rollins violated three provisions of the Hatch Act.

With respect to the first two questions, Ms. Rollins admits that she went to Andover in
her official capacity and that she used a government vehicle to travel to and from the event.
Her defense against the Hatch Act allegations relates entirely to the third question; she claims
that she did not attend the DNC fundraiser but, instead, went to a community engagement
event related to USAO-MA’s Building Respect In Diverse Groups to Enhance Sensitivity
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(BRIDGES) program.®? But that assertion is wholly contradicted by the evidence—there simply
was no BRIDGES event in Andover on July 14.53

Contrary to Ms. Rollins’s unsupported claim that she attended a BRIDGES event in
Andover, the evidence overwhelmingly shows that she knowingly attended the DNC fundraiser.
Ms. Rollins told OSC that she understood Dr. Biden was “there for a fundraiser, not to meet
me.” And Ms. Rollins knew that she was meeting Dr. Biden at a DNC event; she spoke with a
DNC official to confirm her attendance, had that DNC official further coordinate her attendance
with a subordinate employee, and texted staff that a subordinate “told the DNC that | am going
to the Biden event.” By Ms. Rollins’s own account, she went inside the venue at approximately
4:45 p.m., which was the same time as the fundraiser guest of honor, Dr. Biden, and forty-five
minutes after she had been asked to arrive at the DNC fundraiser. Further, it is undisputed that
while inside, Ms. Rollins, like the other attendees, was offered food and refreshments, took a
picture with Dr. Biden, and conversed with other fundraiser attendees. Thus, it is clear that Ms.
Rollins knowingly attended the DNC fundraiser, not a BRIDGES event.

Ms. Rollins’s actions in Andover give rise to three Hatch Act violations. First, by
attending the DNC fundraiser in her official capacity, Ms. Rollins violated 5 U.S.C. § 7323(a)(1)
by attending a political event,®® and therefore engaging in political activity, while acting in an
official capacity. Second, because Ms. Rollins went to the DNC fundraiser in her official capacity
she was necessarily also “on duty” for purposes of the Hatch Act,®® and she therefore violated 5
U.S.C. § 7324(a)(1) by engaging in political activity while on duty. Third, because Ms. Rollins
used a government vehicle to travel to and from the DNC fundraiser, she violated 5 U.S.C.

§ 7324(a)(4) by engaging in political activity while using a government vehicle.®®

62 At various points in her testimony to OSC Ms. Rollins said that she understood the invitation “came through the
BRIDGES program,” that her attendance would be a “nice touch with BRIDGES,” and that her meeting with Dr.
Biden was “a BRIDGES-sponsored meeting” held “prior to the fundraiser.”

63 Ms. Rollins’s own actions the day after the fundraiser rebut her claim that she attended a BRIDGES event. On
July 15, Ms. Rollins reviewed and edited a response to DOJ’s Office of Public Affairs in which she defended her
conduct in Andover but did not mention a BRIDGES event. Rather, she merely described the hosts of the DNC
fundraiser as having “a long standing history with our USAO through the BRIDGES program.” Ms. Rollins made a
similarly misleading public statement in response to a Boston Herald article about her attendance at the DNC
fundraiser when she tweeted “It’s almost as if the Herald didn’t want to know | had approval to meet Dr. Biden &
left early to speak at 2 community events last night.” Rachael Rollins (@DARollins), Twitter (Jul. 15, 2022 8:28
AM), https://twitter.com/DARollins/status/1547921083336011776. But the approval that Ms. Rollins received was
to meet Dr. Biden “individually in a meet and greet type situation” outside of the fundraiser. As thoroughly
documented herein, she did not comply with that advice.

4 There is no question that the DNC fundraiser was a political event. Not only was it hosted by the DNC, a national
political party, but, per the invitation, the money raised was to be used by the DNC and its state-level affiliates “in
connection with federal elections.”

55 The Hatch Act regulations define “on duty” to include those times when an employee is representing an agency
of the United States Government in an official capacity. See 5 C.F.R. § 734.101.

56 There is a limited exception to these prohibitions for certain Senate-confirmed presidential appointees who
“determinel] policies to be pursued by the United States in relations with foreign powers or in the nationwide
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Ms. Rollins’s violations are aggravated by the clear advice she received, both orally and
in writing, prior to attending the event. Ms. Rollins disputed the extent of that advice and
denied that she was advised not to go inside the venue. However, her testimony is
contradicted by the evidence. Among other things, Ms. Rollins claimed that the employee who
informed her of the invitation and relevant restrictions on July 11 “never meets with me” and
that she had no recollection of any such July 11 meeting. But an Outlook calendar entry shows
that Ms. Rollins met with the employee on July 11, and the employee sent multiple emails
immediately after the meeting documenting what occurred. Furthermore, the employee’s
testimony to OSC was detailed and consistent with both contemporaneous written accounts
and the testimony of other witnesses. Thus, the substantial weight of the evidence—indeed, all
the evidence except for Ms. Rollins’s own testimony—shows that the July 11 meeting took
place as described herein and that, in both that meeting and subsequent conversations, Ms.
Rollins was repeatedly advised not to attend the fundraiser or go inside the venue. Considering
the amount of information that Ms. Rollins received about the DNC fundraiser, one employee
who spoke with Ms. Rollins about the event told OSC “I just don’t know how she wouldn’t
know” not to go inside the venue. Ms. Rollins’s claims to the contrary are not credible.

In testimony to OSC, Ms. Rollins appeared to blame her staff for what transpired in
Andover. She told OSC that the invitation to the DNC fundraiser “was a thing that was brought
to me [and] that | assumed it would only be brought to me if it had been cleared in every way,
shape, and form that it had to be.” USAO-MA, in fact, did identify potential Hatch Act concerns
and addressed them by advising Ms. Rollins to meet with Dr. Biden outside the venue and not
attend the fundraiser. Ms. Rollins had every opportunity to comply with that advice, including
just before she went into the fundraiser when she was asked by a reporter whether her
attendance at the event would violate the Hatch Act. The issue here is that Ms. Rollins ignored
her staff’s advice and did attend the fundraiser. Thus, any claim by Ms. Rollins that she acted in
reliance upon her staff having cleared her attendance is specious.

The reason Ms. Rollins’s staff told her it would be permissible to meet with Dr. Biden
outside the fundraiser venue—and, for that matter, why they told her about the invitation at
all—warrants mention. Multiple USAO-MA employees told OSC that under prior U.S. Attorneys,

administration of Federal laws.” 5 U.S.C. §7324(b)(2)(B)(ii). However, since the Hatch Act was first passed in 1939
the U.S. Department of Justice has maintained that U.S. Attorneys do not determine policies to be pursued in the
nationwide administration of Federal laws and, therefore, that the exception does not apply to U.S. Attorneys. See
Attorney General’s Circular No. 3301 (Oct. 26, 1939) (U.S. Attorneys are not exempt from the Hatch Act because
they do not determine policies to be pursued by the United States in the nationwide administration of federal
laws); see also Memorandum from Frank Wozencraft, Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel, U.S.
Department of Justice, to Ramsey Clark, Deputy Attorney General, U.S. Department of Justice (June 15, 1966)
(same). The Hatch Act training that Ms. Rollins received reflects this position. Moreover, even if Ms. Rollins were
covered by the exception, it would not have applied in this specific instance because it only exempts those political
activities “not paid for by money derived from the Treasury of the United States,” 5 U.S.C. § 7324(b)(1), and Ms.
Rollins never reimbursed the Treasury for the government-incurred costs of her attending the DNC fundraiser.
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an invitation for the U.S. Attorney to attend a political party fundraiser would have been
summarily denied without telling the U.S. Attorney. One employee said that declining the
invitation should have been “easy” and that it was a “hard no.” Another said that “in any
world, in any district, under any other U.S. Attorney . . . there’s no way we would have pitched
it to a U.S. Attorney. We would have just said no.” However, those employees also described
how Ms. Rollins became frustrated upon learning that USAO-MA staff were declining invitations
and speaking opportunities without first notifying her of those invitations and opportunities.
One employee said that Ms. Rollins had “made it clear she doesn’t want people making
decisions for her,” while others described her as getting “increasingly frustrated” and “very,
very angry” when USAO-MA staff declined invitations without telling her. Thus, while there was
a consensus among the involved USAO-MA employees that Ms. Rollins could not accept the
invitation, they nevertheless felt they had to tell her about it.

Complicating matters, from the employees’ perspective, was their perception that Ms.
Rollins regularly pushed back when told that she could not do something because of ethics
rules. One employee described discussing ethics-based restrictions with Ms. Rollins as a
“frustrating process” in which Ms. Rollins “blamed the messenger,” while another said she had
to tell Ms. Rollins “we can’t die on every single hill.” An employee also told OSC that “normally,
when ethics is uncomfortable we all move on. That doesn’t work here.” Employees then
testified that they had to spend considerable time both planning how to tell Ms. Rollins that
ethics rules prohibited a particular course of action and, because of the expected pushback,
preparing potential alternatives.

Because USAO-MA employees felt they needed to tell Ms. Rollins about the invitation to
the DNC fundraiser and they expected her to push back when being told that she could not
accept the invitation, the employee who told Ms. Rollins of the invitation was prepared when
Ms. Rollins said that she wanted to accept the invitation against USAO-MA’s advice. It was only
at that point that the employee suggested that Ms. Rollins could meet with Dr. Biden outside
the fundraiser venue. And it was only a meeting under those conditions—individually and
outside the fundraiser venue—that was approved by EOUSA. But rather than meet Dr. Biden
under those conditions, Ms. Rollins attended the DNC fundraiser in violation of the Hatch Act.

Iv. CONCLUSION

Ms. Rollins’s violations of the Hatch Act were knowing and willful. Regarding the leak of
non-public information about a potential investigation of Kevin Hayden, Ms. Rollins understood
it was wrong to leak the information, and she knowingly engaged in that wrongful activity for a
political purpose. Regarding her attendance at the DNC fundraiser, Ms. Rollins was specifically
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advised on how to avoid violating the Hatch Act if she wanted to meet with Dr. Biden and she
intentionally ignored that advice.

Ms. Rollins’s violations were serious. In particular, her repeated efforts to leak
non-public DOJ information for the purpose of harming a political candidate rank among the
most flagrant violations of the Hatch Act that OSC has ever investigated. The leak was an
extraordinary breach of public trust by a senior government official, which threatens to erode
confidence in the integrity of federal law enforcement actions. And her decision to attend a
political party fundraiser in her official capacity as U.S. Attorney is directly contrary to one of
the central purposes of the Hatch Act—to avoid even the appearance that the federal
government is being used to promote a political party or its candidates. Ms. Rollins’s multiple
knowing, willful, and serious violations unquestionably warrant disciplinary action.

By statute, “if the Special Counsel determines that disciplinary action should be taken”
against a Senate-confirmed presidential appointee for violating the Hatch Act, then OSC’s
findings “shall be presented to the President for appropriate action.”®” Ms. Rollins is a Senate-
confirmed presidential appointee, and OSC has determined that disciplinary action should be
taken for her repeated abuse of her official authority as U.S. Attorney for political purposes in
violation of the Hatch Act. Accordingly, OSC hereby submits this Report of Prohibited Political
Activity to the President.

67 See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(1), (b).
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From: (via Twitter)" <notify@twitter.com>
Date: September 2, 2022 at 8:40:15 PM EDT

Subject:_) has sent you a Direct Message on Twitter!

a Direct Message.
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According to a
federal law
enforcement
source, the
DOJ is looking
into
investigating
the SCDAO
around the

I'm getting
more specifics
later today,
but | wanted
to put this on
your radar
before it got
too late on
Friday so
you'd have
the chance to
respond. |
believe one of
my coworkers
put this to
you last
weekend for a
story we
ultimately
decided to
hold — I'm
essentially
asking about
the same
thing.

Is there
anything the
DA wants to
say about
this?

Thanks,
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https://www.bostonherald.com/2022/09/11/rachael-rollins-recused-as-feds-eye-suffolk-da-
kevin-hayden-in-mbta-transit-police-case/

Attachments:

Title: EO0B6A26F-9F 16-4271-9ABE-6A7FACE77DDB.pluginPayloadAttachment

Size 1

Title: 4AF166DB-FB7A-411B-820D-3B10C99673B7 pluginPayloadAttachment
Size 127766

Participant Delivered Read
9/11/2022
9:24:53
PM(UTC-4)

Status: Read

9/11/2022 8:10:54 PM(UTC-4)

14



Report of Prohibited Political Activity
OSC File No. HA-22-000173
Exhibit 8, Page 002

From: Rachael Rollins

To:

WTF!?!

When was the office contacted about this? And why wasn’t | called? Immediately? How
are they quoting things?

Participant Delivered Read Played
9/11/2022
9:24:53
PM(UTC-4)

Status: Read
9/11/2022 8:10:54 PM(UTC-4)

Just tried you. Please call when you can

Participant Delivered Read Played

9/11/202
2
9:24:53

PM(UTC
-4)

Rachael

I

Status: Read

9/11/2022 8 20:42 PM(UTC-4)

15
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To: -(USAMA)l_@usa.doj.gov]
From:

Sent: Fri 7/8/2022 9:42:11 PM
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] FW: Dr.Jill Biden

FLOTUS expected at 4:45pm, if you can be there by 4pm that would work great.
Thanks,

From: NN (UsAMA) [mailto | NN osoi cov

SenM\y 7,2022 4:42 PM
To:

Subject

ect: RE: [EXTERNAL] FW: Dr.Jill Biden

Hi [

I got your message.Thank you for the invite to next Thursday’s event.It looks as if the US Attorney
has two other engagements on her calendar and may not be able to make it. I’'m not sure if I can make

yet, but will let you know.
I don’t have a direst email for _ but I do have a contact for

From: [

Sent: Thursday, July 7, 2022 4:10 PM
To: I UsaMvA) I

Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: Dr.Jill Biden

Hi

Just left a voicemail for you. Wanted to extend an invite to you and Ms. Rollins to the event we are having next
Thursday. Would love to have you there. Also, could you kindly forward contact details of iand I

will forward an invite as well.
Thanks

From: [

Sent: Thursday, July 7, 2022 4:07 PM

To:
Subject: Dr.Jill Biden

Sent from my iPhone
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To: DN (USAM AN @sa.doj.gov]
From: [ (USAMA)

Sent: Mon 7/11/2022 7:24:15 PM
Subject: FW: USA fundraiser invitation - THURSDAY JULY 14

I know you’re on vacation this week, but | wanted to make sure you were brought up to speed on an invitation
RR received to attend a fundraiser for Dr. Jill Biden with the DNC. | told RR today that she received the
invitation, but we advised her not to attend. We suggested that if she really wanted to greet FLOTUS, that she
could do so by walking the 10 minutes through the Secret Service barricade to say hi to FLOTUS outside of the
event. We told her that she should not go in. She agreed to this plan, and acknowledged that she should not
goin. | asked ] to check with GCO (see below) to make sure this plan was ok.

From: I (USAMA) 2 I @ usa.doj.gov>
Sent: Monday, July 11, 2022 2:10 PM

To: I (UsAVA) 4l @usa.doj.gov>

Subject: RE: USA fundraiser invitation - THURSDAY JULY 14

Thanks —that is much simpler. Stay tuned.

From: I (VSAMA) 4@ usa.doi.gov>

Sent: Monday, July 11, 2022 2:03 PM

To: I (USAMA) 2 < @ us2. ol 20v>

Subject: RE: USA fundraiser invitation - THURSDAY JULY 14

Rachael wants to go- on her own- to meet with Dr. Jill Biden outside of the event (before it starts). She will
just be saying hi and will not go in.

From: N (USAMA) 2 < @ us2. ol £ov>
Sent: Monday, July 11, 2022 1:48 PM

To: N (UsAVA) G usz.doi.gov>

Subject: FW: USA fundraiser invitation - THURSDAY JULY 14

I don’t know the answer to any of these questions, except | can run a conflicts check with the names on the
invite. Any chance you orJjjj have more info?

From: I (USAEO) N © us2. dol zov>

Sent: Monday, July 11, 2022 1:43 PM

To: I (USAMA) 2 I @ us2.Co].20v>
Subject: RE: USA fundraiser invitation - THURSDAY JULY 14

Thank you for reaching out to GCO. | am the duty attorney today and am happy to assist you. Please note that
GCO’s standard response time is 5 to 10 business days for ethics matter, but | will do my best to provide
guidance on this expedited request.

| will need some additional information in order to analyze this matter and to determine if additional
approvals, including ADAG approval, are needed.
* What will occur at this event?
* Will USA Rollins be speaking, receiving/providing any awards, actively involved in any way, etc.?
* What will the role be of USA Rollins at the event?



Report of Prohibited Political Activity
OSC File No. HA-22-000173
Exhibit 10, Page 002

L



EXHIBIT 11

Email forwarding the Executive Office for
United States Attorneys’s guidance to
Rachael Rollins



Report of Prohibited Political Activity
OSC File No. HA-22-000173
Exhibit 11, Page 001

To: (USAMA) Il @usa.doj.gov]

Cc: Rollins, Rachael (USAMA I @vsa.doj.gov]; I (VSAVA I @usa.doj.gov]
From: (USAMA)

Sent: Wed 7/13/2022 6:16:34 PM

Subject: Re: (ETH-22-4280) GCO Guidance re: USA Rollins Meet & Greet with FLOTUS

Adding RR and JJj

Sent from my iPhone

On Jul 13, 2022, at 1:36 PM, | I (USAMA) I @usa.doj.gov> wrote:

Hi I
Please see the GCO guidance for tomorrow’s event with Dr. Jill Biden. As we expected, she has
been advised not to “attend the fundraiser, provide remarks of any kind, or discuss policy or

legislation on July 14.” She is allowed to meet the First Lady and then leave.

Would you mind sharing this with RR?

From: I (USAE0) I @ us:.doi.gov>

Sent: Tuesday, July 12, 2022 8:28 AM

To: I (USAMA) 2 < @ us:. o] 2ov>

Ce:HE A0 ) I 2 s .cdoicov>; I (VSAE0) M2 vsa.doi.cov>;
Il (VSAEO) MR @ vsa.doi.cov>; I (VSAE0) MG usa.doi.sov>

Subject: (ETH-22-4280) GCO Guidance re: USA Rollins Meet & Greet with FLOTUS

*Confidential Attorney Client Communication*

Thank you for clarifying that USA Rollins will not be attending the fundraiser, providing remarks
of any kind, or discussing policy or legislation on July 14. We do not see an issue with USA Rollins
simply meeting with the First Lady individually in a meet and greet type situation and then
leaving after the meet and greet.

Please let me know if you have any questions or need any additional information related to this
matter.

Thank you again for reaching out to GCO.

Assistant General Counsel
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Rachael Rollins
To:
To:
To:
To:

Because we changed Malden to a zoom that is much smaller, | CAN GO TO
THE DR JILL BIDEN EVENT!!

PLEASE MAKE SURE EVERYONE KNOWS THAT IS NOW A YES.

|from the National Democratic Party called me yesterday to confirm.

a contact? | don’t want to park 6 miles away and walk in.
With at BC | didn’t have to.

7/13/2022 6:48:05 AM(UTC-4)
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From: |

To:
To:
To: | Rachael Rollins
To:

We didn’t change Malden to a Zoom? It’s in person still but just closed door like

we discussed on the call yesterday.

7/13/2022 8:13:43 AM(UTC-4)
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Rachael Rollins
To:
To:
To:
To:

| said we could do it by zoom.

In the future, let’'s make sure whoever is responsible to planning things | am
doing, before the call ends repeats back what they understand is the final
plan. This is happening too often.

7/13/2022 8:16:54 AM(UTC-4)
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To:
To: Rachael Rollins
To:
To:

| recall that the call was rushed at the end because you and were trying to

navigate to the state police entrance. We will discuss with Malden and Melrose this
morning.

7/13/2022 8:19:04 AM(UTC-4)
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Rachael Rollins
To:
To:
To:
To:

Your tea o speak to each other before you call Malden and Medford.
Speak to - who told the DNC that | am going to the Biden event. It is about
my calendar AS A WHOLE. Not just this event.

Come up with some potential solutions, present them to me and then | can decide
what | would like to do with my time that day.

7/13/2022 8:26:03 AM(UTC-4)
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Rachael Rollins

To:
To:
To:
To:

And | don’t care if it is in person or zoom, | just want people considering
my time, preparation needs, sanity and overall schedule.

7/13/2022 8:38:04 AM(UTC-4)




APPENDIX

Rachael Rollins's Response to OSC's
Report of Prohibited Political Activity
Under the Hatch Act



Michael R. Bromwich

I
I ©steptoe.com

1330 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20036-1795

www.steptoe.com

May 12, 2023

The Honorable Henry J. Kerner
Special Counsel

U.S. Office of Special Counsel
1730 M St. Suite 218
Washington, D.C. 20036

Re: Response to “Report of Prohibited Political Activity Under the Hatch Act (OSC
File No. HA-22-000173 (Rachael Rollins)”

Dear Mr. Kerner:

On behalf of United States Attorney (“USA”) for the District of Massachusetts
Rachael Rollins, we submit this letter in response to the draft report of the Office of
Special Counsel (“OSC”) entitled “Report of Prohibited Political Activity Under the
Hatch Act (OSC File No. HA-22-000173 (Rachael Rollins)” (the “Draft Report”).

Before we address the specific issues raised by the 25-page Draft Report, we
want to make three points. First, we object in the strongest possible terms to the
inclusion of 115 pages of personal text messages as exhibits, including scores of private,
text messages between USA Rollins and Ricardo Arroyo, a current elected member of
the Boston City Council. Publishing the private text messages themselves, as opposed
quoting or paraphrasing relevant portions of their contents, constitutes an unnecessary
and inappropriate incursion on the privacy rights of not only USA Rollins but also
Councilor Arroyo. Although we disagree with many of the conclusions that the OSC
has drawn from those text messages, at least the OSC asked Ms. Rollins some limited
questions about them and gave her an opportunity to explain the meaning of —and
context for —certain of those private text messages. From our review of the Draft
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Report, it appears that the OSC did not interview Councilor Arroyo and did not contact
him during the investigation. Councilor Arroyo recently announced his re-election bid.
There is no need to include so many text messages, or indeed any of them, so long as
their contents are reported accurately. In contrast with the extensive set of attached text
messages constituting 82% of your report (115/140 pages), the related Department of
Justice, Office of the Inspector General report on the same two issues has not found it
necessary to attach any of the text messages, presumably because of privacy and related
concerns. We strongly urge the OSC to adopt the same approach. Without providing
Councilor Arroyo with notice and the opportunity to be heard, it seems deeply unfair to
publish scores of his private, personal text messages. Fairness dictates that, at a
minimum, the text messages themselves should not be summarized in relevant part and
not released publicly, and that Councilor Arroyo be provided advance notice of your
report’s release.

Second, although we appreciate the opportunity to comment on the Draft Report,
we need to emphasize the limits on our ability to address its factual accuracy. The OSC
states that it interviewed 11 witnesses, including Ms. Rollins. We were present during
the OSC’s interview of Ms. Rollins, but not for the interviews of the other 10 witnesses.
Not only were we not present for those interviews, we had no meaningful opportunity
to speak with many of those witnesses —namely, the members of Ms. Rollins’s U.S.
Attorney’s Office staff. We were very mindful that such interviews on USA Rollins’s
behalf may have raised concerns among some members of her office’s staff about the
possibility of retaliation or retribution. Though such fears would have been misplaced,
that does not mean they would not have existed. Based on that risk, Ms. Rollins and I
agreed early on and made a conscious decision—in the best interests of her office —that
that we would not conduct such interviews, even though that decision substantially
prejudiced her ability to defend herself. Thus, we were essentially foreclosed from
doing what any competent counsel would ordinarily do in other circumstances —i.e.,
interview witnesses who had personal knowledge of the matters under investigation
and whom we were certain the OSC would be interviewing.

Finally, before discussing the merits of the OSC Draft Report, we feel compelled
to note the irony that the investigation into the potential violation of the Hatch Act by
Ms. Rollins was publicly demanded by Senator Tom Cotton (R-AR), a strong supporter
of former President Donald J. Trump. The Trump Administration was populated by
several high-ranking officials who openly, routinely, and defiantly violated the Hatch
Act with no consequences. See generally, U.S. Office of Special Counsel, Investigation of
Political Activity by Senior Trump Administration Officials During the 2020 Presidential
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Election (Nov. 9, 2021). Indeed, Sen. Cotton was so unfamiliar with the Hatch Act that
he requested that the DOJ OIG investigate the allegations rather than the OSC.1

On behalf of Ms. Rollins, here are our comments on specific passages of the
report. In citing paragraph numbers, we refer to full paragraphs on a specific page, not
carryover paragraphs from a previous page.

1. P.2, 9 1: “The U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC) has found that U.S. Attorney
for the District of Massachusetts, Rachael Rollins, violated the Hatch Act and-in
doingse; committed-an-extraordinary-abuse-ofherpewerasU-S-Atterney.
Chronologically, her first violation arose in July 2022 when, in disregard of legal
advice from her own agency, and in violation of the Hatch Act, she attended a
political party fundraiser in her official capacity. Her second violation occurred
throughout August and September 2022, when she repeatedly attempted to
sabotage-the campaign of a political candidate by leaking nonpublic U.S.
Department of Justice (DOJ) information to the media to plant a story that he was

facmg a DOJ 1nvest1gat10n ﬂﬂs—hﬁeﬂﬂelaﬁeiarm—pameu}aﬁ}&eﬂeef—theﬂest
atch / | Lot OSC has . L1

Response: We request that the OSC delete the words and phrases that are
struck through above. They are unnecessarily rhetorical and hyperbolic. OSC can
state its conclusions without resorting to inflammatory rhetoric. As for the statement
that Ms. Rollins attended the July 2022 event “in disregard from legal advice from
her own agency,” which we have highlighted, the evidence is equivocal about the
legal advice that Ms. Rollins actually received. The bulk of the correspondence
regarding the event did not include USA Rollins. In addition, we understand that
the colleague who accompanied USA Rollins to the Andover event similarly recalled
that she was not aware of any prohibition from entering the residence. Therefore,
this conclusion cannot and should not be stated so starkly. This comment also
applies to similar language (“She did so despite repeatedly being advised not to
attend the fundraiser.”) at page 18, paragraph 3. These absolute statements do not
accurately reflect the welter of conflicting and equivocal advice provided to USA
Rollins about attending the event.

2. P.4—Timeline

! It is no accident that Sen. Cotton requested the investigation. During USA Rollins’s
highly contentious Senate confirmation process, he openly vowed to block her
confirmation and waged an aggressive campaign against her, including on his website,
and submitted a letter disparaging Ms. Rollins to the Boston Herald.
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We found this timeline, as presented, extremely difficult to follow and
understand. We suggest that it be deleted from the final report, particularly in light
of the fact that the relevant events are outlined in the text of the Draft Report.

3. P.5, 9 1: “Prior to the event [Ms. Rollins] was told repeatedly, both in person
and by email, not to attend the fundraiser. That advice came from both her own
staff and DOJ officials in Washington, DC.... The Hatch Act implications were
so apparent that a reporter outside the venue asked Ms. Rollins whether she
was concerned that her presence at the event might violate the Hatch Act. Ms.
Rollins responded “no” and, contrary to all the advice she had received,
proceeded inside the fundraiser.”

Response: These factual conclusions are stated with far more certainty than
the evidence supports. In fact, Ms. Rollins sought and received approval to attend
the Andover event from her internal Ethics team and from EOUSA. The admonition
that the meet-and-greet with the First Lady should take place outside the residence
where the fundraising event was to take place was, to our knowledge, mentioned
once at the end of a lengthy email chain. The subject line had been changed and the
advice from EOUSA that was summarized at the top of the email was followed by
USA Rollins. USA Rollins credibly testified that she did not see the portion at the
bottom of the lengthy the email chain which contained that requirement, which is
believable both because of the volume of emails she receives daily and because she
had a legitimate expectation that members of her staff would highlight anything that
was crucial. As we stated above, our understanding is that the colleague who
accompanied USA Rollins to the event was similarly unaware of the requirement to
meet the First Lady outside.

From its investigation, the OSC is aware that there were numerous conflicting
and confusing communications about USA Rollins’s planned meet-and-greet with
the First Lady. It is therefore not at all surprising that the importance, in retrospect,
of whether the meet-and-greet should happen inside or outside the residence in
determining whether a Hatch Act violation occurred might well have been lost on
Ms. Rollins, as it also would be to anyone not steeped in the specifics of the Hatch
Act. And as for the Boston Herald reporter yelling to USA Rollins that her presence
might constitute such a violation, there was no reason for USA Rollins to attach any
significance to that at all in the absence of some evidence that the reporter was
knowledgeable about the Hatch Act. Also, when the reporter saw USA Rollins, she
called her Ayana (presumably thinking she was Congresswoman Ayana Pressley, an
elected official to whom the Hatch Act doesn’t apply). Therefore, it is unsurprising
that Ms. Rollins interpreted the reporter’s question as low-level harassment rather
than a definitive pronouncement from someone with Hatch Act expertise.
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4. P.5,9 2: “Ms. Rollins claimed that she did not attend the fundraiser but instead
went to an event related to a U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of

Massachusetts outreach program, the BRIDGES program. But there was no
BRIDGES event in Andover that day.”

Response: These assertions badly misconstrue what Ms. Rollins said. In fact,
she said her colleague knew the hosts of the event because of their association with
BRIDGES, not that the event itself was a BRIDGES event. She acknowledged that
she spoke to someone associated with the DNC about the event; there was no
mystery that the actual event was a fundraiser. USA Rollins intended to meet the
First Lady before the fundraiser began and did so. USA Rollins was the first in line
to say a quick hello and the first to leave as others) were still entering. Her
understanding was the event was scheduled to start at 5 pm and USA Rollins left the
residence at 5 pm. USA Rollins left the residence before any of the events normally
associated with a fundraiser — call to order, speeches, requests for contributions,
etc.—had begun. Attendees were driving up the road to the event as USA Rollins
and her colleague were walking out and driving away.

5. P.5, 9 3: “Ms. Rollins’s abuse of her power within the federal justice system to
achieve a political goal epitomizes the type of “political justice” that Congress
intended to prohibit.”

Response: This sentence is unnecessarily hyperbolic and rhetorical. The
OSC’s position is that USA Rollins’s actions violated the Hatch Act. That position
can be stated plainly and clearly without resort to hyperbole or inflammatory
rhetoric.

6. P.7,92: “InJuly she violated 5 U.S.C. §§ 7323(a)(1), 7324(a)(1), and 7324(a)(4)
by attending a Democratic National Committee fundraiser in her official capacity
and traveling to and from that fundraiser in a government vehicle. Ms. Rollins’s
unabashed willingness to use DOJ resources, information, and her official
authority as a U.S. Attorney in furtherance of partisan political goals is directly
contrary to both the letter and spirit of the Hatch Act.”

Response: The evidence is clear that the USAO brought to Ms. Rollins’s
attention an opportunity to meet the First Lady. USA Rollins was present at the
residence where the fundraiser later took place for a total of approximately 20
minutes - including taking a rapid COVID test outside and receiving her results -
and that she left before the program began. She was there for the sole purpose of a
brief meet-and-greet with the First Lady. Ms. Rollins pledged no money, encouraged
no one else to pledge money or make cash contributions, stayed for no speeches, and
left immediately after she shook hands with the First Lady and posed for a couple of
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photographs. USA Rollins believed she was following the specific guidance spelled
out at the top of the email she had received from DOJ personnel precisely so that she
would not violate the Hatch Act.

As for the use of the government vehicle, on leaving the residence, USA
Rollins conducted government business with three different towns within her
jurisdiction —one by phone, one by Zoom and one in person. There is no question
that her use of the government vehicle to do government business is entirely proper.
The fact that she used the same vehicle as she needed to conduct the subsequent
pieces of government business for a brief stop between her day and evening of
government business does not make its use improper.2 Indeed, the advice Ms.
Rollins received from DOJ strongly suggested that if the meet-and-greet had in fact
taken place outdoors, no one would have thought she had violated the Hatch Act. In
addition, the OSC’s phrase about her “unabashed willingness” to, among other
things, “use her official authority as U.S. Attorney in furtherance of partisan political
goals” completely loses sight of the fact she is the U.S. Attorney. She cannot shed her
identity. Finally, the conclusion about her abusing her official authority would be
supported if she had approved promotional materials for the fundraising event that
featured the fact that she would attend. No such promotional materials exist, nor
would Ms. Rollins have approved them.

7. P.9, 9 1: “Ms. Rollins actively supported Mr. Arroyo in his campaign for Suffolk
County DA,...”

Response: The phrase “actively supported” suggests that Ms. Rollins publicly
endorsed Mr. Arroyo or contributed money to his campaign. As the OSC knows, she
did neither.

8. P.10, § 2: "Ms. Rollins was so involved in the Suffolk County DA election that
she began to view some of her official engagements as U.S. Attorney through the
lens of whether they would help Mr. Arroyo’s or hurt Mr. Hayden’s
campaigns.... In an apparent effort to give Mr. Arroyo similar exposure, Ms.
Rollins messaged him and wrote, “Make sure you let me know about stuff that I
can show up at. And we can ‘happen’ to be there together.”

Response: There is no evidence that Ms. Rollins ever made arrangements to
show up at an event where Arroyo was appearing. Her suggestion that she might do
so was designed to provide encouragement to a close friend, not to state her actual

2 The OSC repeats these allegations at page 19, final paragraph. Our response applies equally to that
formulation of the conclusion.
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future intentions. This comment also applies to the OSC Draft Report further
pressing the point at page 11, paragraph 2.

9. P.15, 4 3: “Notably, in leaking information about the potential investigation of
Mr. Hayden, Ms. Rollins chose news outlets for whom she had previously served
as a source. In May 2022 she leaked a nonpublic DOJ letter to the Herald
describing a DOJ investigation, which resulted in the Herald publishing an article
that same day. In June 2022 she similarly leaked a nonpublic DOJ letter to the
Globe describing a separate DOJ investigation, which again resulted in an article
that same day.”

Response: In fact, Ms. Rollins would have been well within her rights as the
U.S. Attorney to make public information about these two investigations.
Department of Justice, Justice Manual 1-7.400(C) (noting, that “when the community
needs to be reassured that the appropriate law enforcement agency is investigating a
matter, or where release of information is necessary to protect the public safety,
comments about or confirmation of an ongoing investigation may be necessary...”).
Thus, the fact that Ms. Rollins provided information about these two investigations
that she initiated to the media is not as sinister as the OSC Draft Report suggests. It
was well within her rights as U.S Attorney and reflects what she always pledged to
be as U.S. Attorney —a person who advocates on behalf of communities whose voices
had never been sufficiently heard and on whose behalf the federal government has
not been a consistent champion.

The letter to the mayor of Quincy was about an event that had occurred nearly
eight years earlier; scores of media articles had been written about it. The
communities most affected by the Quincy letter are those members of that
community suffering from mental health issues, substance use disorders, and
housing insecurity.

The letter to the mayor of Everett focused on extremely egregious conduct,
some of which went back several years. The community in Everett, comprised of
well over 50% Black and brown people, including a substantial immigrant
population, needed assurances that the federal government was looking into the
concerns of racial, gender, and national origin discrimination, and allegations of
sexual harassment and assault.

10. P. 17, 9 1: "The only reason that Ms. Rollins’s disclosures about DOJ activities,
including a potential investigation of Mr. Hayden, carried any weight was her
authority as U.S. Attorney.”
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Response: This is simply wrong as a matter of fact. The value of the
information —to the extent it had value —was intrinsic to the information, not
dependent on who provided it.

11. P. 20, 4 2: “And Ms. Rollins acknowledged to OSC that she received advice prior
to the event that she should not attend the fundraiser. Specifically, she recalled
being told “if you get there and the fundraiser has started, turn around and
leave, or something like that.”

Response: Again, USA Rollins’s understanding, shared by her USAO
colleague, was that as long as she left before the formal program began, she was
acting consistently with the requirements EOUSA had given her regarding the Hatch
Act—i.e., she was not “attending the fundraiser.” If the inside/outside distinction
was so significant, it should have been highlighted more prominently by EOUSA.

12. P. 21, 9 5: ”"Ms. Rollins admits that she went to Andover in her official
capacity...”

Response: Ms. Rollins was the U.S. Attorney before she entered the residence,
during the brief time she was in the residence, and when she left the residence. Her
presence was not announced in advance of the event, nor in the presence of the
attendees. Indeed, the name slip she was handed to quickly meet FLOTUS said “DA
Rachel Rollins”. Both her title and her name were wrong. It is highly likely that the
vast majority of the 10-15 attendees present when she first arrived were the close
immediate family of the hosts. Included in that number were several children under
the age of 10. The instant the First Lady arrived, USA Rollins was in and out within
minutes. There was in fact no meet and greet as USA Rollins had been told. It was
clear nobody had told the First Lady about the meeting. Which makes clear that USA
Rollins would likely have been tazed or shot by Secret Service had she been standing
on a lawn somewhere outside the home and attempted to approach the First Lady.
USA Rollins was leaving as Senator Markey, a family friend of hers for decades, was
just arriving and walking in and took a quick photo with him. The photos took less
than a minute. People were arriving as she was leaving, and nobody had spoken yet
or even gone to the podium that was set up in the main room. USA Rollins clearly
left before the event began. And as said previously, the rapid COVID stations were
still set up and active. Therefore, this “admission” that she attended “in her official
capacity” is at best misleading and should be removed from the OSC Report.

13. P. 21, same: ”[Ms. Rollins’s] defense against the Hatch Act allegations relates
entirely to the third question; she claims that she did not attend the DNC
fundraiser but, instead, went to a community engagement event related to
USAO-MA’s Building Respect In Diverse Groups to Enhance Sensitivity
(BRIDGES) program, But that assertion is wholly contradicted by the
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evidence — there simply was no BRIDGES event in Andover on July 14.
[footnotes omitted]”

Response: As noted above in our comment on #4 above, this is a
misstatement of Ms. Rollins’s statements about BRIDGES and its relationship to
the fundraiser. The invitation came from respected members of the BRIDGES
community, which is why the USAO Community Liaison was invited. It was not
a BRIDGES event. She originally met the hosts at an event where many BRIDGES
members were present.

14. P. 23: In consecutive paragraphs, the Draft Report asserts that “Ms. Rollins
was repeatedly advised not to attend the fundraiser or go inside the venue,”
and that Ms. Rollins’s USAO staff advised “Ms. Rollins to meet with Dr. Biden
outside the venue and not attend the fundraiser.”

Response: Ms. Rollins understood that as long as she did not stay for the program
at the Andover event—the speeches, and the solicitations for contributions — she
was observing the requirements of the Hatch Act. She herself did not speak, nor
did she discuss any legislation, which she was told via email that she could not do.
As described above, the requirement that she should not enter the premises —and
that this made all the difference —was either not effectively communicated to Ms.
Rollins or not adequately understood by her. In fact, USA Rollins spent only 20
minutes total there - including walking up the hill, getting confronted by a Herald
reporter, taking a rapid COVID test, waiting for the results, walking inside,
waiting for Dr. Biden to arrive, briefly saying hello to Dr. Biden, saying hello to
Senator Markey on the way out, taking pictures with him and leaving before what
she considered the fundraiser —speeches, requests for contributions, and
networking —began. All of that happened in 20 minutes. The fact that what USA
Rollins could or could not do at the Andover residence was the subject of countless
emails and conversations demonstrates the lack of clarity about what was
permissible for USA Rollins to do. As the Draft Report acknowledges, the
Executive Office of U.S. Attorneys approved Ms. Rollins attending the event.

P. 25, 9 1: “In particular, her repeated efforts to leak nonpublic DOJ information for
the purpose of harming a political candidate rank among the most flagrant violations
of the Hatch Act that OSC has ever investigated.”

Response: This piece of hyperbole should be deleted. It is inflammatory and
almost surely untrue. The OSC was founded in 1939. An OSC investigator who
was 25 years old in 1939, at OSC’s founding, would be 109 years old today. Only
such an employee who has been employed consecutively from 1939 to the present
would be capable of making a statement as definitive as this. It is enough for OSC
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to assert its conclusion in this case rather than making bold and insupportable
statements such as this.

Sincerel

Michael R. Bromwich

cc: Eric Johnson
Attorney, Hatch Act Unit
U.S. Office of Special Counsel
1730 M St. Suite 218
Washington, D.C. 20036
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